THESIS

University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest Department of Food Hygiene

Food safety risks of raw and unpasteurised milk

By Paul Borg

Supervisor:

Dr. Zsuzsanna Szili

Budapest 2017

Table of contents

8. Acknowledgements

1.	List of abbreviations	
2.	Introduction	1
3.	Literature review	
	Mycobacterium	7
	Coxiella burnetti	10
	Escherichia coli	11
	Listeria monocytogenes	13
	Campylobacter spp	15
	Brucella	17
	Staphylococcus aureus	19
	Yersinia spp	21
	Coliforms	23
4.	Discussion	24
5.	Conclusion	28
6	Summary	29
0.	Summary	29
7.	Bibliography and references	30

38

1. List of abbreviations

TB – Tuberculosis cause by Mycobacterium spp.

SCC – Somatic Cell Count; amount of leukocytes present in the milk in response to pathogens

HTST – High Temperature Short Time

UHT – Ultra High Temperature

SPC - Standard Plate Count

NTM – Non Tuberculous Mycobacteria

PCR – Polymerase Chain Reaction

PRA – Restriction Pattern analysis

EHEC – Enterohemorrhagic E. coli

VTEC – Verotoxin producing E. coli

BHI – Brain heart infusion

MLVA – Multiple locus variable number tandem repeat Assay

CC – Coliform Count

2. Introduction

Milk consumption has been part of human nutrition from the very beginnings of human civilization, as part of the change from a hunter-gatherer system of human society to a predominantly agriculture based system, this was due to the fact that humans eventually settled into communities instead of nomadic tribes and needed a stable source of food, such as animal by products. Before Pasteurisation and different heat treatments of milk came about it was consumed fresh, at the time the benefits and risks of consuming such milk was not known and thus many problems arose. Today with the help of science, with the discovery of pasteurisation and with better recording of data we can come to certain conclusions on the risks presented in unpasteurised milk and the products from such.

Although today with pasteurisation the amount of foodborne pathogens have been reduced, their presence are still significant in everyday life, especially on a farm environment as farmers and milk handlers still consume raw milk.

Today, due to the demand for longer shelf life, wider distribution to the public and the increase in trade throughout the world, heat treatment is necessary, which begs the question: Is the consumption of unpasteurised milk still practiced? Despite there being limited evidence to whether raw milk has enhanced nutrient properties and taste, people still consume in spite of the evidence to claim that it is a high risk of infection (Oliver et al., 2009).

History of pasteurisation and heat treatment

In 1864 Louis Pasteur discovered that heating milk to just below the boiling point reduced the number of pathogens. Eventually this developed into several different methods of treating milk with the aim of destroying harmful pathogens and removing any spoilage agents, for example HTST treated requires a temperature of 72°C for 15 seconds as a continuous process, or 63°C for 30 minutes, known as batch pasteurisation (Jordan and Hunt, 2012). UHT milk on the other hand is heated to 135°C for 15 minutes in order to deactivate any bacterial spores

3. Literature review

Myths surrounding raw milk benefits

Regulation (EC) no. 853/2004 states that "milk produced by the secretion of the mammary gland of farmed animals that has not been heated to more than 40°C or has undergone any treatment of equivalent effect" as the definition of raw milk (Castro et al., 2017). According to scientific research provided on the Food and Drug Administration of the USA, these are the facts that come to light: Raw milk was said to have been able to cure asthma and allergies, however when experimented on animal models (Poulsen et al., 1987) and human clinical experiments (Host and Samuelsson, 1988) it was shown that this was not the case, and raw milk does not in fact stimulate any sort of anaphylactic action.

Raw milk has no scientific proof on curing osteoporosis, as there have been studies conducted on the calcium content of both raw and pasteurised milk, but no difference existed (Rolls and Porter, 1973)

Raw milk has been said to contain probiotic bacteria, however these must be non-pathogenic and must be of human origin (Teitel and Walker, 2000), and there are no such bacteria in milk as milk is normally sterile when secreted in the mammary gland. There have been reports of bifidobacter present in the milk, and this is a bacterium that is present in the gut of humans and animals (Arunchalam, 1999), but this would indicate fecal contamination rather than probiotic effects (Bereens et al., 2000).

Milk is quite active with proteases such as plasmin and somatic cell proteases (Kelly and McSweeney, 2003). However, increased amounts of these enzymes are usually correlated with mastitis (Verdi et al., 1987). Exogenous bacterial proteases could also be present in the milk. However, there is no proven physiological role to these enzymes and are normally digested in the stomach due to the acid content.

Bovine milk contains LPL, and a few other lipases from organisms and somatic cells (which are significant in mastitis) from unhygienic environments (Weihrauch, 1988). Again, these enzymes have no proven beneficial effects and therefore no nutritional value.

The amount of protein available in raw milk does not differ to pasteurised milk (Andersson and Oste, 1995), as well as digestibility of protein (Carbonaro et al., 1996).

Milk fat content also does not appear to change under pasteurisation (Rolls and Porter, 1973).

Milk minerals remain stable under pasteurisation and the amount is not altered significantly at all (Rolls and Porter, 1973).

Milk contains a wide arrange of vitamins, and pasteurisation has been shown to have no particular effect or degradation in them (Bendicho et al., 2002).

Raw milk has been said to contain many natural antibiotic substances such as xanthine oxidase, lactoferrin, lactoperoxidase etc. but there is no evidence to substantiate the claim that these substances truly kill pathogens. In fact, studies show that elevation in these substances actually indicates the presence of mastitis as the cow's immune system reacts to pathogenic organisms and their metabolites (Chaneton et al., 2008; Schmitz et al., 2004; Farkye, 2003).

There is another myth that raw milk contains a higher concentration of an enzyme called nisin, which has antimicrobial properties (although is not very effective against gram negative bacteria, fungi and viruses). This is produced by an overgrowth of *Lactococcus* bacteria (Arauz et al., 2009), but has no effect when refrigerated at the temperatures used to preserve milk. Thus, if detected, means the milk was not stored properly.

Raw milk under the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point procedures (HACCP) is not safe either, as there is no ability to pinpoint specific parts of the farm where one can determine hazards for raw milk, since it contains so many different pathogenic agents it is too unpredictable to control (Cullor, 1997; Sperber, 2005).

Major risks involved in consuming raw milk

With all that being said, the major risks present in raw milk are innumerable. In a study conducted by Zeinhom and Abdel-Latef and published in 2014, in an attempt to identify the major public health riks associated with drinking raw milk, by culturing 150 samples of farm and market based raw milk along with milk handler stool samples and hand swabs and using specific agar for culturing pathogenic strains of certain bacteria had found that the most common organism was the strain O157:H7 *Escherichia coli*, Along with members of *Salmonella*, *Yersinia* and *Aeromonas* spp (Zeinhom et al., 2014). The study had concluded that the presence of these organisms is suggestive of fecal contamination (as they are indicators of such) and that raw milk was microbially unsatisfactory to consume without further processing.

A study conducted by Blaser et al. Published in 1979, followed a family of five people, four

of which were known to have been consuming raw milk from their dairy cattle, in order to find correlation with the presence of *Campylobacter fetus ss jejuni*. Three of the family members had started showing clinical signs and were sampled serologically, to which a four times increase in antibody specific to *Campylobacter* was found (Blaser et al., 1979). The study had shown that there was a correlation between infection and consumption of raw milk, as an index patient had been used as a visitor to the farm and all other factors were ruled out. *Mycobacterium* complex is also very present in raw milk and proves a significant threat to human health. The disease is very difficult to detect and is subject to many tests to detect non-clinical animals (Di Pinto et al., 2006)

Coxiella burnetti is the causative agent of Q fever and is very well-known to be associated with raw milk. The disease in acute form usually presents itself as infective endocarditis (Shah et al.,2015).

Brucella, one of the more well-known pathogens present in raw milk (although more frequently associated with drinking raw goat or sheep milk), causes severe systematic disease in humans and is subject to many eradication programmes all over the world (Oliver, 2009). Salmonella spp. Is one of the more frequently occurring pathogens and one of the more preventable ones with pasteurisation. Several serovars are shed intermittently by carrier cows, and may cause bloody diarrhea and in severe cases systemic disease (Poppe, 2011)

Milk quality

Milk quality is normally quantified using several indicators found in the milk itself. SPC is one method used to quantify milk hygiene by measuring the amount of "aerobic bacteria present in raw milk" (Oliver et al., 2009). This technique is used as a way to check the health of the herd, udder and milk hygiene practices and as a way to check mastitis prophylactic measures. According to Oliver et al. A low SPC count is "<5000 colony forming units [CFU] of bacteria=mL" and a high count would be indicative that bacteria found their way into the milk through specific routes (Oliver et al., 2009).

Good quality milk can is usually identified using SCC as an indicator for quality. In Europe the maximum limit for good quality milk is 400,000/mL (National milk producers federation, 2007). According to Oliver et al.: "high milk SCC is associated with a higher incidence of antibiotic residues in milk, and the presence of pathogenic organisms and toxins". SCC is a

count of inflammatory cells present in milk.

Milk quality also dictates that no pathogenic bacteria such as *Campylobacter* spp., *Escherichia coli*, *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Salmonella*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Mycobacterium bovis*, *Brucella spp.*, *Coxiella burnetti*, *Yersinia enterocolitica* (Oliver et al., 2009). These pathogens may also be present as the animals' normal flora and thus may also contaminate meat and milk products while slaughtering. Some of them may also be present in soil through improperly processed fertilizer (Oliver et al., 2009).

As discussed before, raw or unpasteurised milk presents itself as an abundant source of pathogenic agents which may cause very severe disease in people. Each risk factor will be discussed individually below accordingly.

Mycobacterium spp

Tuberculosis is one of the leading causes of deaths caused by infectious diseases in the world, with an estimated 1.7 billion people being infected, which is about a third of the human population, a number which is seemingly on the rise (Di Pinto et al., 2006). The members of the tuberculosis complex which cause disease in humans are known to be Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Mycobacterium bovis, Mycobacterium microti, Mycobacterium africanum and Mycobacterium leprae. They are characterised as being obligate aerobic bacteria which are facultatively intracellular preferring to replicate in macrophages, and have a tendency to infect oxygen rich tissues. They are split into Obligate pathogenic and facultatively pathogenic/saprophitic, the former are sensitive to heat and drying out and cannot reproduce outside the cell (Bolanos et al., 2017). TB as a disease is generally a chronic disease that takes place over a few weeks to several months and involves the formation of a primary complex which generally involves an organ system and its corresponding lymph nodes. Bovine TB is caused by Mycobacterium bovis and is transferrable to humans through unpasteurized milk, contaminated meat and aerosol infection (Bolanos et al., 2017). Although generally it is the obligate pathogenic Mycobacterium species that are relevant to raw milk, in recent years the facultative species have also come to significance especially in people who are immunocompromised or vulnerable to such infection.

In a public health context, the most important are Mycobacterium bovis and tuberculosis.

According to Bolanos et al.: "in Brazil, about 20-30% of cow's milk is marketed without health inspection." and goes on to emphasize the role of raw milk which creates potential risk of infection. *Mycobacteria* can remain viable in raw milk products as well, for instance they may remain viable in raw milk cheese and yoghurt for around 14 days (Bolanos et al., 2017). Extrapulmonary infections have also been noted in direct infections of *M. bovis* to humans (Bolanos et al., 2017).

People at highest risk of contracting bovine TB are generally farm personnel and veterinarians, especially in episodes of clinical TB, closed areas such as barns and keeping areas predispose this niche greatly (Di Pinto et al., 2006)

Diagnosing TB is generally done using a skin test and a purified protein derivate (Tuberculin) and the skin fold measured. This was noted as a slow process however, as is cultivating the bacteria on a medium due to their fastidious nature (Di Pinto et al., 2006). In a study done by Di Pinto et al. In 2006, an experiment was conducted to see if there was a quick and reliable way of detecting and identifying *Mycobacterium* species using a PCR technique used for food samples such as bovine milk. The study found that the PCR used in clinical sample application would not be adequate for food samples due to inhibitory products which would interfere with *Taq* polymerase reaction. This will allow for a better way of ensuring prophylactice measures in TB eradication programmes and monitoring non-EU derived milk. NTM also serve a potential threat to immunocompromised individuals, especially those suffering from HIV/AIDS (Di Pinto et al., 2006). In Turkey, a study was done by Konuk et al. On 35 milk samples to isolate and identify mycobacterial strains present. The study found 15 acid fast rods which were taken from 28 of these samples (Konuk et al., 2007). The species were identified using PCR – PRA, and they were *Mycobacterium terrae*, *Mycobacterium kansassii*, *Mycobacterium hemophilum* and *Mycobacterium agri* (Konuk et al., 2007).

In Nigeria another study was conducted by Cadmus et al., which took 400 raw milk samples and identified, using isolation and molecular techniques, that *Mycobacterium bovis* and *Mycobacterium africanum* were present in 10% of the milk samples collected. This is significant as certain regions of Nigeria are still poverty stricken and as a result are still consuming raw milk, as bovine TB is endemic to Nigeria some prophalyctic measures need to be placed in order to better control the disease (Cadmus et al., 2010).

As TB is known more as a disease of the developing world, the consumption of raw milk still poses a severe risk and predisposition to TB disease caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*

complex made of not only *M. bovis* but by NTM as well.

Coxiella burnetti

Coxiella burnetti is the causative agent of coxiellosis in animals and Q-fever in humans (Petruzzelli et al., 2013). It is an obligate intracellular bacterium that can be asymptomatic in humans, and can lead to abortions and periparturient problems in women (Guatteo et al., 2007). Although it has been found to be endemic in ruminants, and causes mostly reproductive disorders in them, it has also been found to be of limited public health impact. Q-fever can result in atypical pneumonia, hepatitis and retinal vasculitis, a more chronic form manifesting as endocarditis (Petruzzelli et al., 2013). Since *C. burnetti* can be found in ruminants as its reservoir, these animals can go one without clinical manifestations, and can contaminate milk from loci of infection during parturition or lactation, shedding is, however, periodic in these animals through milk. The major source of infection, however, is inhalation of aerosols (Petruzzelli et al., 2013).

In a study done in Italy, 2013, Petruzzelli et al. Tried to assess the prevalence of *C. burnett* using PCR techniques. The study found 21 positive samples out of 130 bulk milk tank samples, indicating a prevalence of 27%.

A study conducted by Guatteo et al. Tried to establish the prevalence of *C. burnetti* in bulk milk tank milk using PCR techniques in relation to level of shedding present per cow. 14 dairy herds were studied participating in a "Q-fever control programme" in france which had at least one positive PCR sample from vaginal mucous or bulk milk tank samples, and a total of 1522 cows participated with a total sample size of 37 bulk milk tank samples (Guatteo et al., 2007). The results yielded 6 negative samples, whilst the "mean within-herd prevalence of milk shedder cows" was found to be 18.5%, whilst heavy milk shedder mean was 32.3%.

The studies shown above clearly indicated a high presence of *C. burnetti* present in raw milk collected and provides yet another source indicative that consuming raw milk, even in developed areas of the world is still a dangerous practice with possibly devastating repercussions to the consumer.

Escherichia coli

This bacterium has been accepted worldwide as an indicator for fecal contamination as it is a member of the normal flora in the intestines of endothermic animals (Oksuz et al., 2004). The bacterium itself is responsible for many diseases, due to their vast serotypic variation, they are capable of enterhemorrhagic diseases caused by EHEC and VTEC of the serotypes O157:H7 (Okzuz et al., 2004).

Since dairy cattle present as asymptomatic carriers, the routes of infection may be yielded through contamination at the slaughterhouse and on-site contamination in the farm from raw milk and bulk tank milk (Oksuz et al.,2004). Hence *E. coli* remains a very important threat of undercooked meat as well.

Another disease caused by *E. coli* in humans is hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). This disease is caused by serotype O26, and has been identified as 2 different H antigens (Allerberger et al., 2003).

A study was done in 2005 by Arimi et al. To study the risks associated with *E. coli* serotype O157:H7 and drinking unpasteurized milk in consumer and milk market agents in Nairobi city and Nakuru town, Kenya. The study sampled consumers within 120 census clusters, to which "30 clusters were randomly selected (Arimi et al., 2005). Within each selected cluster, 7 households were randomly chosen for a total of 210 households and milk samples obtained". Market agencies were sampled according to location and type, each having milking as an important activity in four districts (Arimi et al., 2005). All dairy related retailers and traders were sampled in a selected area up to 30. The milk samples collected from each area was then cultured and purified to collect the bacteria, and then run through a modified technique of PCR to identify verotoxin production (Arimi et al., 2005).

The prevalence of the bacteria was also taken into account between consumers and market agents in dry and wet seasons, in order to obtain a better and more accurate result, and not leave it to specific season (Arimi et al., 2005).

According to the results of the study, many households did boil the milk before drinking it with their tea, however the study found that a certain area in Nakuru rural did in fact consume it raw (Arimi et al., 2005).

The study found that the prevalence of the *E. coli* strain was 0.8%, this is quite low considering the other risks related to consuming raw milk but the real problem lies in its

virulence, which the study mentions the level of infection can be very high, as is the pathogenicity, and can lead to some serious damage such as kidney failure in individuals (Arimi et al., 2005).

Another study done by Allerberger et al. In 2003 follows two cases of an 11-month-old boy and 28-month-old girl, both of whom were confirmed to have consumed raw milk. The study used the stool samples of the children, the bacteria were then cultured and isolated, and using a technique called Pulse Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE), the strain was identified (Allerberger et al., 2003). The researchers then collected samples from the cows which produced the milk and tested for the bacteria and It was found that the strains were indistinguishable (Allerberger et al., 2003). The study also inquired into the epidemiology of the case and found the children had been staying in a hotel in Austria were raw milk was being served at the buffet, and the children had consumed it without the knowledge of their parents. As stated in the study, Austrian law does not allow raw milk to be served unless it has been boiled (Allerberger et al., 2003). This case is a clear example of how dangerous a situation can get without prior treatment of the milk.

In another study done by Oksuz et al., 100 raw milk samples and 50 pickled cheese samples were collected randomly in a village in Turkey. The researchers took the samples and cultured for *E. coli*, isolated using special agar and determined strains using serological methods. It was found that only one sample out of 100 of raw milk was positive for *E. coli* O157 (Oksuz et al.,2004). This does not mean a reduced risk however, as cattle are still reservoirs and may spread the bacterium, and it takes a long time for it to disappear from communal waters (Oksuz et al.,2004).

In 2011 a study was done in Lazio, Italy, by Marozzi et al. To check the prevalence of which strains were present in the region. The researchers cultured 161 samples specifically for *E. coli* and using molecular techniques to identify the strain. Only two O157 strains were identified and none were shiga toxin producing, and a 15.1% prevalence of shiga 1 and shiga 2 toxin producing strains (Marozzi et al., 2011).

The studies listed above show that there is a great need for surveillance and treatment of milk and milk products, along with a suitable control programme and educating farmers and consumers about the risks involved.

<u>Listeria monocytogenes</u>

Listeria is an important pathogen associated with meningitis, meningoencephalitis and abortion found typically in the soil and in the gut of farm animals (Dalzini et al., 2016). It is also found as a contaminant in bulk milk tanks and raw milk vending machines. It is a resistant bacterium capable of surviving refrigeration, high salt environments and soil environments (Ryser, 2007). The bacterium also makes up some of the contaminants present in food processing plants, which makes it much more difficult to eradicate (Oliver et al., 2005). Listeria is also part of the microbiological criteria for foodstuffs, which includes criteria for Listeria in ready to eat foods (Regulation (EC) No. 2073/2005), which means foods already present at retailers must not exceed 100 cfu/g, along with producers having to demonstrate that there is no bacteria present in 25g of product before it has departed from the producing facility (Castro et al., 2017).

That being said, looking at a study by Castro et al. Compiled in 2017 in Finland, the researchers studied the *Listeria* growth rate and content present in packaged raw milk. According to the study, consumers seem to prefer raw milk due to the sensory difference to pasteurised milk, and to support local farming practices (Castro et al., 2017). The samples were collected over the period of November 2013 and September 2015, and these included: raw milk bottles, bulk tank milk, in-line milk socks and the contents of the environment present on the packaging area on which the research was done (in order to compare results). The samples included 105 bottles (1 L from a retail store) of raw cow milk, 115 (of 50 ml) bulk tank milk, 23 in line milk socks and 50 environmental samples from the packaging area. The bacterium was then isolated, identified using PFGE and then serotypes identified by PCR, the researchers then isolated the bacteria at different temperatures from different samples (Castro et al., 2017).

The researchers found that the occurrence in bottled raw milk was 6.7%, for bulk tank milk 3.5%, for in line milk socks 57% and 8.0% for environmental samples (Castro et al., 2017). The study thus concluded that the bottled raw milk and bulk milk tank was the major source of contamination, where the initial low levels of the bacterium in packaging which was then stored at consumer temperature was the catalyst for the growth of *Listeria*.

In 2015 a study was done by Dalzini et al. In northern Italy to survey the prevalence and seasonal variability of *Listeria*. The researchers took 8716 cows from 942 farms in the period

of January 2010 to September 2013. This included 5897 bulk tank milk samples intended for cheese making and 2819 samples intended for retailing use. A prevalence of 1.66% was detected in the bulk milk samples, but this was due to tank contamination rather than raw milk intended for vending machine, according to the researchers (Dalzini et al., 2015). The prevalence for raw milk in vending machines was around 0.50%. The researchers concluded that the prevalence being so low could indicate good farm hygiene practices, and these studies can be used as a quantitative assessment of listeriosis connected with raw milk and its products (Dalzini et al., 2015).

Although the prevalence was shown to be low in both articles, the threat of *Listeria* still remains significant, especially to vulnerable individuals such as pregnant women, children and the elderly, and thus the need for good farm hygiene and food hygiene practices are imperative to the prevention and eradication of the disease (Dalzini et al., 2015; Oliver et al., 2005).

Campylobacter spp.

Campylobacter spp. Are typically isolated from dairy cattle as they act as the reservoir for the bacterium (Del collo et al., 2017). It is a microaerophilic, spiral shaped, gram negative bacterium and is one of the leading causes for food borne diarrhea in the USA (Del collo et al., 2017). However, it is a self-limiting infection and can resolve within weeks, rarely needing antibiotic treatment, but may result in permanent damage in Guillain Barre syndrome (Del collo et al., 2017). Campylobacter infections may be typically caused by Campylobacter jejuni, lari and coli, and are very commonly associated with raw poultry meat, but have commonly been isolated from bulk milk tank samples (Del collo et al., 2017). Although dairy cattle may be regarded as intermittent shedders, a high concentration of bacteria may be shed during these times (Del collo et al., 2017). Campylobacter have also been implicated in mastitis, however this is not the major source of raw milk contamination, rather it is from fecal contamination that results in the presence of the bacterium in bulk milk tanks (Oliver et al., 2005). Campylobacteriosis includes clinical signs such as watery diarrhea, abdominal pain, fever and malaise, which could result in a severe neurological disease known as Guillain Barre syndrome, which causes a flaccid type paralysis (El-Zamkan and Hameed, 2016).

A study was done recently on the prevalence of Campylobacter spp. In bulk milk tank and

filters in the USA by Del collo et al. And the study was split into 17 states, which represent around 80.5% of dairy herds and 81.5% of dairy cows in the USA (Del collo et al., 2017), classified into small, medium and large herds accordingly (Del collo et al., 2017). The samples collected were from bulk tank milk and milk filters, collected as hygienically as possible, and was ensured that each sample represented one milking cycle (Del collo et al., 2017). the samples were: 234 from bulk tank milk, 231 from filters from the 17 states, and 231 paired samples from dairy operations were obtained (Del collo et al., 2017) The samples were then enriched, DNA extracted from the enriched samples and placed through real time PCR to identify prevalence or isolated on selective agar and then extracted DNA was placed through real time PCR to identify Campylobacter, and multiplex PCR to identify species, which was then run through and antibiotic susceptibility test and through PFGE. The antibiotic resistance was done using an automated microdilution pattern to test along a pattern of 9 antibiotics (Del collo et al., 2017). The results obtained from the PCR from the bulk tank milk and filters yielded an average prevalence of 24.9%. The study found that the amount of Campylobacter spp. Was more frequent in larger farms than in smaller dairy operations (Del collo et al., 2017). The study concluded that the consumption of raw milk exposes the consumer to a risk "150 times greater than the incidence due to pasteurized milk" (Langer et al., 2012).

Another study conducted in Italy by Serraino et al. In 2013 followed research as to the presence of *Campylobacter* in herds of dairy cattle and in a water buffalo farm. The sampling was done over 13 dairy cattle farms which were authorised to sell raw cow milk and one water buffalo farm with 90 lactating animals (Serraino et al., 2013). A total of 196 in line milk filters were collected by the researchers, and were collected specifically after milking. The samples were then enriched, DNA extracted and isolated for *Campylobacter*. The study found a prevalence of 35.7% of the farms sampled being positive for *Campylobacter* with 8.1% of samples being positive and the species were *C. jejuni, C. hyointestinalis ssp hyointestinalis, C. concisus* and *C. fetus ssp fetus* (Serraino et al., 2013).

Another study done in Italy was conducted for the presence of *Campylobacter* present in vending machines, assessing quantitative risk associated with consuming such milk, which was conducted by Giacometti et al. In 2015. The study was done to update a risk assessment model using several variables over a 4-year period, including exposure, prevalence of the bacterium in the vending machines (the study found at least one positive sample for *C. jejuni*

in each vending machine), time and temperature of the vending machine milk, doses of the bacterium and dose response. The study concluded that consumer behaviour requires further monitoring but with quantitative risk assessment can give a good indication of trends in epidemiological data (Giacommeti et al., 2015).

Brucella

Brucellosis is a worldwide disease which causes abortion and reproductive problems in animals and may be transmitted to humans via consumption of raw milk and its products (Ning et al., 2012). It is known to be easily transmitted among animals, however human to human transmission is not typical, rather contact with infected animal fluids is the norm (Ning et al., 2012). The bacterium is normally identified via cultivation, however this requires a large amount of time to finish and predisposes its users to occupational risks of being infected (Ning et al., 2012).

In some countries, for example Turkey, Brucellosis is endemic (Kaynak-Onurdag et al., 2016), and can be treated as a preventative measure using a live-attenuated vaccine, the problem presented with this is that PCR methods cannot distinguish between vaccine and actual bacteria (Kaynak-Onurdag et al., 2016).

In one study conducted in Edirne, Turkey, which is a pilot region for vaccines in the country, carried out by Kaynak-Onurdag et al., the research was done to check the raw milk of the region for *Brucella* by comparing isolation methods and molecular methods. The sampling was done on 99 cows from 12 different farms in 5 villages in the area, collecting the samples straight after milking (Kaynak-Onurdag et al., 2016). Then the samples were cultured for *Brucella* and then suspect colonies subjected to biochemical tests in order to confirm the bacterium. Real time quantitative PCR was then used and compared with the bacteriological analysis, the positive PCR samples were then subjected to special Primers which the researchers had designed in order to identify the vaccine from the virulent strain (Kaynak-Onurdag et al., 2016). However, the bacterium was only isolated in two of the samples and the amount of PCR positives were considered mostly to be false positives, thus the study concluded that both the virulent and vaccine strains still somehow need to be distinguished from each other (Kaynak-Onurdag et al., 2016).

In another study done by Ning et al. The research was carried out as PCR on milk samples

rather than blood serum (Ning et al., 2012). 816 cows were used for the study and each one was separated into 3 different groups according to their *Brucella* infection status (Ning et al., 2012). A questionnaire was also issued to the farmers to see how far *Brucella* had impacted the farms in question as to abortions, vaccinations and herd size.

The study had concluded its results were less accurate than one done by Serum Agglutination Test for several reasons: The bacterium is shed intermittently in the milk, differences in infection stages and PCR sensitivity differences (Ning et al., 2012). However, despite these considerations, the researchers still insist that milk PCR be used as a screening method alternative to SAT, since it is cheaper and quicker (Ning et al., 2012).

With that being said, Brucellosis is a very unpredictable disease, and seeing as it is very highly associated from zoonotic risk, along with still fluctuating diagnostic screening methods, makes it a very high pathogenic risk from unpasteurized milk.

Staphylococcus aureus

Staphylococcus aureus is characterised as being a gram-positive bacterium, and is one of the top foodborne disease-causing bacteria in the world (Jamali et al., 2015). This bacterium is typically associated with mastitis and is the leading cause of intramammary bacterial infections which lead to major economic loss (Hein et al., 2005). S. aureus is also a major pathogen involved in subclinical mastitis, and may be able to produce a heat stable enterotoxin which is toxic to humans, causing vomiting, diarrhea and abdominal pain (Mehmeti et al., 2015). The presence of S. aureus is typically indicative of good quality farm hygiene and milking technique, especially involved with bulk milk collection (Mehmeti et al., 2015). Unfortunately, due to repeated use of penicillins, this bacterium has become immune to the antimicrobial effect caused by this drug, this is thanks to an enzyme it produces called beta lactamase (Jamali et al., 2015).

A study conducted in 2015 was done by Jamali et al. In a province of Iran to test for the prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of the bacterium. The samples were collected from retail sellers of raw milk, totalling 2650 samples split between raw cow milk, ovine milk, raw milk cheeses and "kashk" (Jamali et al., 2015). The samples were cultured for *S. aureus* and tested for antimicrobial susceptibility, along with PCR to detect the antimicrobial genes (Jamali et al. 2015). Of all the samples, 15.7% of raw cow milk, 10.9% ovine milk, 10.9%

cheese and 11.5% kashk were confirmed to be contaminated with *S. aureus*, along with this antimicrobial resistance was found to be such: 36.3% of samples were found to be resistant to one antibiotic, 46.6% were found to be resistant to 2 antibiotics and 12.8% were resistant to greater than 2 antibiotics (Jamali et al., 2015). These findings are quite disconcerting as antimicrobial resistance is on the rise and the development of these strains of bacteria make it harder and harder to combat disease, it is thus important to recognise the threats and treat raw milk accordingly.

Another study conducted in Kosovo by Mehmeti et al. Was done to monitor the prevalence of *S. aureus* present in raw milk, as farms are still on quite a small scale in the country and farmers still live off the raw milk, selling the rest off to dairy companies (Mehmeti et al., 2017). The samples were collected from the bulk tank milk (603) from 221 farms around the country, and were cultured and SPC was done, along with PCR, biochemical tests and DNA sequencing. The researchers had found that only 7% of the farms tested actually fit to the standards of the EU, and that it was the larger herds that were more hygienically viable (Mehmeti et al., 2017). The researchers had concluded that in order to fit into proper hygienic standards a drastic change must be done with cleaning practices on the farm and training veterinary professionals for more strict control.

In a study published in 2005, conducted by Hein et al. The researchers analysed samples of bovine and caprine raw milk in order to quantify *S. aureus* concentrations using Real Time PCR. 80 cow and 107 goat milk samples were collected in certain regions of Norway, these were then cultured and subjected to biochemical tests in order to identify the presence of the bacterium (Hein et al., 2005). The results presented a 95% occurrence in bovine milk with PCR, however many of these were false positives, thus the study concluded that Real Time PCR may still be used as a rapid alternative to microbiological methods.

The studies accounted for bring to light some problems present in the developing world as well as the developed world, where there is a serious need for more responsible antimicrobial use and surveillance along with mastitis control.

Salmonella spp.

Salmonellosis from cattle is typically caused by Salmonella enterica subspecies enterica serovar Dublin (Vignaud et al., 2017) and can be found worldwide as a major cause of

foodborne illness in humans. Cattle may also show clinical signs through diarrhea, pneumonia and high mortality in calves, and can be problematic due to its ability to resist environmental conditions, stays active in meat and milk and may remain in cattle as they act as carriers. (Vignaud et al., 2017). Cows tend to shed the bacterium especially in febrile episodes of the acute form of the disease, particularly post calving, and may contaminate any food products via fecal contamination (Poppe, 2011). In humans, particularly in regions where the practice of raw milk consumption along with its products, are susceptible to outbreaks of the disease which includes symptoms such as fever, vomiting, bloody diarrhea and abdominal cramps (Poppe, 2011). It is also important to take into consideration certain groups of people with higher risk of contracting the disease, such as those with underlying illnesses (HIV/AIDS for example), age related (the elderly and infants being more susceptible due to their fragile immune system), use of drugs and any previous treatment on the gastrointestinal tract.

A study published in 2017 by Vignaud et al. Was conducted in 2012 in order to investigate a suspicious rise in the amount of *S*. Dublin cases in France. The researchers located the source of the outbreak via epidemiological inquiry, which led them to associate the cases to consumption of raw milk cheeses of the brand "Saint Nectaire" (Vignaud et al., 2017). Then, by utilising a new molecular technique known as MLVA, the study was able to identify strains and epidemiologically characterise them accordingly in cases of outbreaks or sporadic occurrences (Vignaud et al., 2017). Since then the technique of MLVA had been in use and has helped studying the epidemiology of the disease more carefully (Vignaud et al., 2017).

Another study published in 2017 conducted by Ding et al. Goes into detail on multiplex Real Time PCR techniques with a pre-enrichment for *S. aureus, L. monocytogenes* and *Salmonella* in order to highlight some of the risks involved present in raw milk, however this section will focus on *Salmonella*. As some countries are very strict on their limits of bacterial detection, pre-enrichment is almost a must as there is almost no margin for error, hence this study would be useful in a diagnostic and screening sense as an enhanced pre-enrichment would allow for better detection of the bacteria (Ding et al., 2017). The farm environment as well as pasture environment was sampled, totalling 46 farms sampled (Ding et al., 2017). The pre-enrichment broth used was BHI, which allows for greater bacterial density (Ding et al., 2017). After pre-enrichment, DNA was extracted and run through multiplex Real Time PCR, the result of which, however, yielded no *Salmonella* positives (Ding et al., 2017). Nonetheless this method seems to be a useful tool in future screening and diagnostic methods in order to detect more

accurately pathogens associated with raw milk.

Control measures for *Salmonella* in milk has been greatly successful over the years, naturally pasteurisation is still the best way of getting rid of these pathogens, however people still believing in the nutritional benefits of raw milk along with farmers and farm personnel are still greatly at risk and must be informed and educated of the dangers associated with it (Poppe, 2011).

Yersinia spp.

Yersinia spp. Are a group of gram negative bacteria of the family Enterbacteriaecae and are considered some of the most important food related disease causative agents (Jamali et al., 2015), most commonly known are Yersinia pestis, Yersinia enterocolitica and Yersinia pseudotuberculosis (Jamali et al., 2014). Yersinia enterocolitica is most relevant for human disease as it is transferred through consumption of raw pork, raw milk and infected water (Jamali et al., 2014). Whilst Yersinia pseudotuberculosis is more frequently encountered through fecal contamination of milk and meat, and can be sub clinical for 7-18 days (Parn et al., 2015. Typical symptoms may range from vomiting, diarrhea, abdominal pain, fever and in extereme cases "erythema nodosus and reactive arthritis" (Parn et al., 2015).

A study published in 2015 by Parn et al. Follows an outbreak of 55 individuals having been infected by *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* between February and April 2014. The researchers notified public health doctors to watch out for Yersiniosis like signs in patients and to collect stool or detect antibodies (Parn et al., 2015). The outbreak was traced back to a farm that had sold raw milk to the infected individuals, and sampling was done on that farm for cow feces and milk samples (Parn et al., 2015). The bacterium was then cultured and then isolated and serotyping was done (Parn et al., 2015). Some of the patients were also asked questions, and 93 cases were identified as positives from different age ranges (Parn et al., 2015). The outbreak started on 10th of February and eventually reached a maximum in March and clinical signs lasted 14 days (Parn et al., 2015). Only 3 cases developed erythema nodosus, only 4 were sent to hospital, and the correlation between those who drank raw milk versus those who didnt and illness was very strongly skewed towards those who did (Parn et al., 2015). The investigation of the milk on farm concluded that packaging raw milk was being done and distribution started on the 10th of February, the same day the outbreak started (Parn et al.,

2015). However, the milk still had a warning label stating that it should be heated first as it contains many dangerous pathogens (Parn et al., 2015). PFGE results indicated that 8 samples had the same profile. The research concluded that the control measures for this retail of raw milk are not sufficient and that better surveillance methods need to be taken into consideration along with better education to individuals wishing to consume raw milk.

Another study by Jamali et al. Published in 2014 was done between 2008 and 2010 to monitor the prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of the bacterium in Iran. 446 bulk tank milk samples were taken from different species of lactating animals in a region in Iran (240 from cows, 165 sheep, and 41 goat) and then they were cultured, isolated and biotyped (Jamali et al., 2014). The virulence genes were then tested for, along with antibiotic susceptibility (Jamali et al., 2014). *Yersinia* spp was detected in 29 of the samples, 23 of them being from bovine, 5 from ovine and 1 from caprine animals, with 65.5% of the samples being identified as *Yersinia enterocolitica* (Jamali et al., 2014). The study also showed that the bacteria had the highest resistance to tetracyclines, which is a disconcerting notion as antibiotic resistance is a growing problem today (Jamali et al., 2014). These studies concluded that with the presence of such pathogenic bacteria in raw milk, and with the issue of outbreaks happening unknowingly to consumers, drinking raw milk presents itself as a very dangerous hazard and may result in very painful consequences.

Coliform bacteria

Coliforms are gram negative bacteria bacteria which can be found in fecal matter of animals and in the environment (Pantoja et al., 2011). Apart from the obvious pathogenic bacteria mentioned previously, there is also a need for identifying those bacteria responsible for contamination from the environment as well, which may cause problems with milk quality (Piepers et al., 2014). When milk is deemed satisfactory, it generally means the coliforms present are eradicated through pasteurisation, however when the process is done wrongly, the presence of coliforms could indicate this (Pantoja et al., 2011). Coliform bacteria include the likes of *Klebsiella* and *Citrobacter*, which may be pathogenic to humans and may grow rapidly in storage conditions (Pantoja et al., 2011).

A study published in 2011, done by Pantoja et al., was conducted in a 10-week period to

utilise a CC method in order to identify coliforms present in bulk milk tanks of farmers in Wisconsin, USA. The in-line milk drips were sampled for milk, and swabs of the milking equipment was taken, along with teat swabs of the cows themselves (Pantoja et al., 2011). Bacteriology using specific culture media for coliforms and SCC was done to observe milk hygiene (Pantoja et al., 2011). The average number of cows present split between farm samples was 1205, and each farm milked by parlors and taken straight to processing (Pantoja et al., 2011). Most farms were technologically advanced, and had milkings 3 times in a day, and most farms had their equipment inspected at least twice a year (Pantoja et al., 2011).

The resulting CC varied from farm to farm ranging from 5 to 1198 CFU/mL, and the study found most considerably that CC increased when washing failures occurred, rather than being affected by temperature or environmental problems.

In another study published in 2014 in Flanders, Belgium, done by Piepers et al., the research was conducted to identify the factors associated with manageable risk by using CC and BC methods. A questionnaire was first given to farmers on their general farm and hygiene practice, of which 254 responded and then the bulk tank milk of these farms were taken as samples (Piepers et al., 2014). The study had concluded that the BC of conventional parlours was actually lower than that of an automated milking system.

These studies thus show the importance of milk hygiene, and how it contributes to the hazards of consuming unpasteurised milk.

4. Discussion

Milk is one of the more nutritious substances currently available and has a very diverse effect on culture, nutrition and health. That being said, with all the current techniques involved in screening and testing in milk, a better and wider awareness should be present about the risks involved in drinking raw milk. The number of pathogens which cause human illness, and may cause irreparable damage or even lead to high mortality, is a very real problem, despite some prevalences presented above being at a lower rate than one could imagine, even small amounts of certain pathogens may end up causing disease (Oliver et al., 2005).

Nowadays the dairy industry needs to take better measures at regulating such practices, considering the hygiene required to maintain a farm environment, maintain a good milk hygiene practice and keeping the animals healthy themselves should be imperative for not just farm practices, but food safety measures as well. This is because raw milk is proven to harbour pathogens and acts as a vector of sorts, causing several outbreaks around the world, along with farm staff and families known to consume it in general, along with a majority of the population consuming it (Oliver et al., 2005).

Another problem presented is that pasteurisation does not necessarily kill all pathogens (Oliver et al., 2005) and any fault in pasteurisation or any miss in the production line may result with catastrophic problems (Oliver et al., 2005).

Nevertheless, people are still free to choose what they eat or drink, and this has led to the latest interest in buying everything "natural", which consequently has given rise to a larger demand for retail of such, advertising that raw milk is somehow superior in some way, despite there being evidence stating otherwise (Oliver et al., 2009).

Thus there is a great need for regulating food safety laws, as well as educating those who consume it and tighter veterinary rules with regards to hygiene (Oliver et al., 2005). As seen from the evidence given, the prevalence in bulk tanks remains quite low, as these are points which are easy to clean rather than in line filters and the rest of the milking equipment (Griffiths et al., 2010). It is also important to note that the number of milkings per day, collection and storage of milk and transport all contribute to significant changes to milk quality with regards to pathogens and may all lead to an increased growth of bacteria (Griffiths et al., 2010).

One other major problem presented by raw milk is also its products; soft cheeses, dried raw

milk, food for infants and the sort all contribute to the distribution to a great number of individuals present in particular risk groups to contract diseases associated with milkborne pathogens (Oliver et al., 2005).

When examining raw milk consumption, it is also important to understand the sociological and psychological processes that go through each individual. The notion of blindly accepting that anything labelled as "organic" or "natural" is ever growing in society, thus no critical appraisal to this is being given by the lay person, it is almost encouraged by healthy individuals wanting to live a more "wholesome" lifestyle (Enticott 2003). For instance: "In the case of organic foods, consumers can be seen to be drawing on a culture of nature emphasising the purity of nature. Organic foods are purified from 'industrial natures' such as fertilisers and pesticides and this action of purification justifies their claim to be 'natural' and 'healthy'" as stated in Enticott, 2003, which implies that people turn to the notion of 'if its natural it is good', including the pathogenic bacteria in the milk and this imposes a great health risk (Enticott, 2003).

The mentality of "rural is safe" is also important to mention, as individuals minimise the thought of risk by implying there is no risk accompanied from local produce, whilst in fact, scientifically speaking, it has no difference from commercially made food (Enticott, 2003).

Another mentality born out of this "Natural is good" psyche is the fact that all bacteria are good, when scientifically, they are not. In a paper published by Enticott, 2003, the study goes on to highlight some opinion based conversation about raw milk:

"Raw milk—its OK—you get some germs but you get a better resistance to all these diseases—you build up some antibodies. Milk never used to be sold in bottles—you'd just go down the farm and get it—you'd take a can and a jug and get it But that's all gone, killed—you can't do that now I do think it's a bit too clean now as its sold. It's all got to be date stamped and you can't eat it after that—well you didn't know what you was eating years ago did you. You didn't know how long they'd had it. There's too many rules and regulations."

This sentence implies that not only do they oppose the notion of pasteurisation, but also reject the idea of scientific expertise to replace it with "alternate" methodologies representing a misguided train of thought with no scientific backing (Enticott, 2003).

This mentality is again reinforced with the notion of purity, regarding the 'natural' product as an end all to health benefits, and an unreasonable super cure to diseases (Enticott, 2003).

From the literature reviewed we can also see a particular trend in Italy with raw milk vending machines (Tremonte et al., 2014; Giacommeti et al., 2015), which the practice has been going on since 2004, with the Italian government imposing strict laws about the storage of it (Tremonte et al., 2014). This will not make a difference with regards to destroying the pathogens and even more so with regards to transporting the milk from the vending machine to other places (Tremonte et al., 2014).

Moreover, the bacteria present in the milk may be able to produce certain enzymes capable of reducing the overall quality of the milk, thus rendering it possibly more dangerous due to secondary products (Tremonte et al., 2014).

It also worth noting that raw milk is also exposed from these vending machines to children, and already there has been outbreaks of hemolytic uremic syndrome caused by verotoxigenic *E. coli* in children (Tremonte et al., 2014). Tremonte et al., highlights that microwaving such milk would be very useful without compromising the nutrients within, however goes on to detail that there is not enough data on the container involved in microwaving and whether it would affect it at all.

Another problem presented with raw milk is the products associated with it, Verraes et al., goes on to describe some outbreaks that have occurred in 2013, and describes that the greater part of this outbreak was caused by *Salmonella* and VTEC strain O157 along with *Listeria*, *Brucella* and *C. jejuni* in the USA. There have also been cases mentioned on *Streptococcus* spp and Tick borne Encephalitis Virus present in consumption of raw milk cheeses from Mexico in 1983 and in 1997 – 2008 in the Czech Republic via raw sheep cheese (Verraes et al., 2015).

It is also worth mentioning the effect on growth rate with regards to additives, particularly in raw milk cheeses. Salting may be an effective way of reducing water content, thus inhibiting bacterial activity, as well as manipulating pH, temperature and dry matter content, and competing microbes have been shown to have an effect on hazardous bacteria (Verraes et al., 2015).

Different methods of packaging may also make a difference in bacterial populations within raw milk cheeses such as vacuum packing may prevent growth of certain microbial aerobes such as fungi (Verraes et al., 2015).

5. Conclusion

It is thus safe to conclude the hazards associated with raw milk consumption are numbered in large amounts and the on-going research associated with it needs further support in order to ensure a safer and better monitoring system of dealing with the pathogens present.

With all that has been said above, the microbial diversity present in raw milk has been demonstrated to be quite rich, encompassing a great number of pathogenic bacteria responsible for milk borne disease outbreaks all over the world, capable of surviving harsh environments and even pasteurisation and cold temperatures. It can also be seen that farm and animal hygiene along with good milk hygiene practice is imperative to ensuring that the risks are brought down to a minimum, as complete sterility at this point is quite unlikely given the unpredictability of bacterial adaptation.

From the studies listed it can also be seen that antimicrobial resistance is a growing problem, and efforts within the realm of prevention is the main aim to trying to prevent this, so vaccination, milk treatment and food safety regulation is imperative for prophylactic measures in both human and animal populations.

It is also worth noting from the studies that the current diagnostic and screening tests for milk still have drawbacks, such as culture time, fastidious bacteria, criteria associated with the animal's immune system and changes in bacterial genome, which draws attention to the need for better monitoring of diseases and the development of more strict eradication programmes. Educating the population on the risks of raw milk is also very important, as the lay person wanting to improve their quality of life with misguided help, communication in science and awareness of the present every day retailing of raw milk and the hazards it carries (regardless of whether it is 'natural' or not) is key to implementing a more preventative mentality rather than a curative one.

There is still much to be found with regards to scientific literature and communication on certain aspects regarding milk products, In cheese *Salmonella*, *Listeria*, *Campylobacter*, *Brucella* and VTEC are quite prevalent, even causing disease at very low counts (Verraes et al., 2015). However when it comes to buttermilk, butter and cream products scientific literature is lacking slightly (Verraes et al., 2015).

Pasteurisation is thus a very important tool in dealing with vegetative pathogens, however there is still an important risk that comes in after the process is finished. It is at this stage that a good Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point practice is necessary to identify which step of the way to alter (Verraes et al., 2015).

Culturing techniques also need to be reviewed, as more sensitive and specific methods are needed in order to screen for bacteria being overlooked which may be able to thrive despite pasteurisation conditions.

Further studies on social behaviour would be needed, however, on such issues as the interactions between the public and such controversial issues are never simple, as individuals seek to return to their 'natural' habits, end up overlooking scientific information for myths, resulting in possibly far worse consequences.

In conclusion, the ideal world would carry with it a safe and informative meat and milk industry with an aim to better quality of life, health and well-being with knowledge present in the safety of our foods and an acknowledgement that it can always improve.

6. Summary

Milk is a nutritious substance which is important both in health and culture in today's world, but also presents certain food safety risks if not treated properly, or hygiene standards are not done properly. In today's emerging trends on healthy habits raw milk has been put on the spotlight as being an unaltered substance with great benefits, however, there is no solid scientific backing towards this mentality, and thus is putting a lot of people at risk since raw milk is a very good medium to convey dangerous zoonotic diseases.

Nowadays even raw milk vending machines are being placed all over the world, showing there is a demand for the substance and some sort of retailing, but the question is how is this being regulated? With all the scientific literature available currently on the hazards present it can be clearly seen unpasteurized milk cannot be controlled correctly as the level of zoonotic pathogens dangerous to human health is unacceptable, especially when considering certain high risk groups like those infected with HIV/AIDS or immunocompromised individuals. It is also a major problem with farmers, farm staff, families living on farm with no access to heating material and possibly even veterinarians as an occupational hazard since drinking unpasteurized milk from the cow is common practice among this certain group of individuals be it for convenience sake or just to save on additional expenidtures on farm.

Several papers reviewed here bring to light the presence of many dangerous disease causing pathogens such as *Mycobacteria*, *Salmonella*, *Listeria*, *Brucella* etc. and the various techniques to screen for them in raw milk and test for several other factors such as antibiotic resistance.

This literature review is meant to highlight some of the important pathogens present in raw milk, the dangers associated with drinking raw milk, why pasteurisation or heat treatment is important in preventing human disease, bring to attention and debunk the myths associated with consumption of raw milk, the diverse number of ways on how to screen for the pathogens involved in milkborne disease and certain shortcomings of some diagnostic methods and certain sociological and psychological reasonings as to why individuals consume it.

7. Bibliography and references

Allerberger, Franz & Friedrich, Alexander & Grif, Katharina & P Dierich, Manfred & Dornbusch, Hans & J Mache, Cristoph & Nachbaur, Edith & Freilinger, Michael & Rieck, Petra & Wagner, Martin & Caprioli, Alfredo & Karch, Helge & B Zimmerhackl, Lothar. 2003. Hemolytic-uremic syndrome associated with enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O26:H infection and consumption of unpasteurized cow's milk. International journal of infectious diseases: IJID: official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases. 7. 42-5. 10.1016/S1201-9712(03)90041-5.

Andersson, I. and R. Oste. 1995. Nutritional quality of heat processed liquid milk, p. 279-307. *In* P. F. Fox (ed.), Heat-induced changes in milk, International Dairy Federation, Brussel, Belgium.

Arauz, L. J., A. F. Jozala, P. G. Mazzola, and T. C. Vessoni Penna. 2009. Nisin biotechnological production and application: a review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*. 20:146-154.

Arunachalam, K. D. 1999. Role of Bifidobacteria in nutrition, medicine and technology. *Nutrition Research*. 19:1559-1597.

Beerens, H., H. B. de la Perriere, and F. Gravini. 2000. Evaluation of the hygienic quality of raw milk based on the presence of bifidobacteria: the cow as a source of faecal contamination. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. 54:163-169.

Bendicho, S., A. Espachs, J. Arantegui, and O. Martin. 2002. Effect of high intensity pulsed electric fields and heat treatments on vitamins of milk. *Journal of Dairy Research*. 69:113-123.

Bolaños CAD, de Paula CL, Guerra ST, Franco MMJ, Ribeiro MG, 2017: Diagnosis of mycobacteria in bovine milk: an overview. *Revista do Instituto de Medicina Tropical de São Paulo*. 59:e40. doi:10.1590/S1678-9946201759040.

Cadmus, S. I. B., Yakubu, M. K., Magaji, A. A., Jenkins, A. O., Van Soonglen, D., 2010: Mycobacterium bovis, but also M. africanum present in raw milk of pastoral cattle in north-central Nigeria. *Trop Anim Health Prod* 42:1047–1048

Carbonaro, M., F. Bonomi, S. Iametti, and E. Carnovale. 1996. Modifications in disulfide reactivity of milk induced by different pasteurization conditions. *Journal of Food Science*. 61:495-499.

Chaneton, L., L. Tirante, J. Maito, J. Chaves, and L. E. Bussmann. 2008. Relationship between milk lactoferrin and etiological agent in mastitic bovine mammary gland. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 91:1865-1873.

Cullor, J. S. 1997. HACCP (Hazard Analysis Critical Control Points): is it coming to the dairy? *Journal of Dairy Science*. 80:3449-3452.

Dalzini E., Bernini V., Bertasi B., Daminelli P., Losio M.-N. & Varisco G., 2016Survey of prevalence and seasonal variability of Listeria monocytogenes in raw cow milk from Northern Italy, Food Control, doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.08.019.

Di pinto, A., Ciccarese, G., Forte, V. T., Bizena, B., Shehu, F., Tantillo, G., 2006: Detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex in milk using polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

Ding, T., Suo, Y., Zhang, Z., Liu, D., Ye, X., Chen, S., & Zhao, Y. (2017). A Multiplex RT-PCR Assay for *S. aureus*, *L. monocytogenes*, and *Salmonella*spp. Detection in Raw Milk with

El-Zamkan, Mona & Abdel hameed, Karima, 2016: Prevalence of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli in raw milk and some dairy products. Veterinary World. 9. 1147-1151. 10.14202/vetworld.2016.1147-1151.

Farkye, N. Y. 2003. Other enzymes, p. 571-603. *In* P. F. Fox and P. L. H. McSweeney (ed.), Advanced Dairy Chemistry. Volume 1. Proteins. Part A, Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York.

Giacometti, Federica, B., P., Amatiste, S., Arrigoni, N., Bianchi, D. M., Marina N. L., Bilei, S. Cascone, G., Comin, D., Daminelli, P., Decastelli, L., Merialdi, G., Mioni, R., Peli, A., Petruzzelli, A., Tonucci, F., Piva, S., Serraino, A., 2015: Human campylobacteriosis related to the consumption of raw milk sold by vending machines in Italy: Quantitative risk assessment based on official controls over four years. Preventive Veterinary Medicine. 121. . 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.06.009.

Gareth Enticott, 2003: Risking the rural: nature, morality and the consumption of unpasteurised milk, In Journal of Rural Studies, Volume 19, Issue 4, Pages 411-424, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0743-0167(03)00023-8.

Guatteo, R., Beaudeau, F., Joly, A. and Seegers, H., 2007: Assessing the Within-herd Prevalence of *Coxiella burnetii* Milk-shedder Cows using a Real-time PCR Applied to Bulk Tank Milk. Zoonoses and Public Health, 54: 191–194. doi:10.1111/j.1863-2378.2007.01043.x

Hein, Ingeborg & Jorgensen, Hannah & Loncarevic, Semir & Wagner, Martin., 2005: Quantification of Staphylococcus aureus in unpasteurised bovine and caprine milk by real-time PCR. Research in microbiology. 156. 554-63. 10.1016/j.resmic.2005.01.003.

Host, A. and E. G. Samuelsson. 1988. Allergic reactions to raw, pasteurized, and homogenized/pasteurized cow milk: a comparison. *Allergy*. 43:113-118.

J.C.F. Pantoja, D.J. Reinemann, P.L. Ruegg, 2011: Factors associated with coliform count in unpasteurized bulk milk, In Journal of Dairy Science, Volume 94, Issue 6, Pages 2680-2691, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2010-3721.

Jamali, Hossein & Paydar, Mohammadjavad & Radmehr, Behrad & Ismail, Salmah. 2014: Prevalence, characterization and antimicrobial resistance of Yersinia species and Yersinia enterocolitica isolated from raw milk in farm bulk tanks. Journal of Dairy Science. 98. . 10.3168/jds.2014-8853.

Jamali H., Paydar M., Radmehr B. & Ismail S., 2015: Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from raw milk and dairy products, *Food Control*, doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.

Jordan, K. N., Hunt, K., Hoorfar, J., 2012: Case studies in food safety and authenticity. The continuing debate over increasing consumption of raw (unpasteurised) milk: is it safe? Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition, p215-221

Kaynak Onurdağ, Fatma & Okten, Suzan & Sen, Burhan. 2016: Screening Brucella spp. in bovine raw milk by real-time quantitative PCR and conventional methods in a pilot region of vaccination, Edirne, Turkey. Journal of Dairy Science. 99. . 10.3168/jds.2015-10637.

Kelly, A. L. and P. L. H. McSweeney. 2003. Indigenous proteinases in milk, p. 495-521. In P. F. Fox and P. L. H. McSweeney (ed.), Advanced Dairy Chemistry. Volume 1. Proteins. Part A, Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York.

Langer, A. J., T. Ayers, J. Grass, M. Lynch, F. J. Angulo, and B. E. Mahon. 2012: Nonpasteurized dairy products, disease outbreaks, and state laws-United States, 1993–2006. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 18:385–391.

M Arimi, S & Koroti, E & K Kang'ethe, E & Omore, Amos & J McDermott, J., 2005. Risk of infection with Brucella abortus and Escherichia coli O157:H7 associated with marketing of unpasteurized milk in Kenya. Acta tropica. 96. 1-8. 10.1016/j.actatropica.2005.05.012.

Marozzi, S., De Santis, P., Lovari, S., Condoleo, R., Bilei, S., Marcianò, R., & Mezher, Z. 2016. Prevalence and Molecular Characterisation of Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia Coli in Raw Milk Cheeses from Lazio Region, Italy. *Italian Journal of Food Safety*, *5*(1), 4566. http://doi.org/10.4081/ijfs.2016.4566

Mehmeti, Ibrahim & Bytyqi, Hysen & Muji, Skender & F Nes, Ingolf & Diep, Dzung., 2017. The prevalence of Listeria monocytogenes and Staphylococcus aureus and their virulence genes in bulk tank milk in Kosovo. *The Journal of Infection in Developing Countries*. 11. 247-254. 10.3855/jidc.8256.

National milk producers federation, 2007: EU Somatic Cell Count Standard Still Unresolved. http://www.nmpf.org/latest-news/articles/eu-somatic-cell-count-standard-still-unresolved Accessed: 23rd October 2017.

Oliver SP, Jayarao BM, Almeida RA., 2005: Foodborne pathogens in milk and the dairy farm environment: food safety and public health implications. *Foodborne Pathog Dis.* 2(2):115–29.

Öksüz, Ö & Arici, Muhammet & Kurultay, S & Gümüs, T., 2004. Incidence of Escherichia coli O157 in raw milk and white pickled cheese manufactured from raw milk in Turkey. Food Control. 15. 453-456. 10.1016/S0956-7135(03)00121-X.

P. Del Collo, Laura & S. Karns, Jeffrey & Debabrata, Biswas & Lombard, Jason & Haley, Bradd & Camilla Kristensen, R & A. Kopral, Christine & P. Fossler, Charles & Van Kessel, Jo Ann. 2017: Prevalence, antimicrobial resistance, and molecular characterization of Campylobacter spp. in bulk tank milk and milk filters from US dairies. Journal of Dairy Science. 100. . 10.3168/jds.2016-12084.

P. Ning, K. Guo, L. Xu, R. Xu, C. Zhang, Y. Cheng, H. Cui, W. Liu, Q. Lv, W. Cao, Y., 2012: Zhang, Short communication: Evaluation of Brucella infection of cows by PCR detection of Brucella DNA in raw milk, In Journal of Dairy Science, Volume 95, Issue 9, Pages 4863-4867, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2012-5600.

Pärn Triin, Hallanvuo Saija, Salmenlinna Saara, Pihlajasaari Annika, Heikkinen Seija, Telkki-Nykänen Hanna, Hakkinen Marjaana, Ollgren Jukka, Huusko Sari, Rimhanen F. R., 2015: Outbreak of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis O:1 infection associated with raw milk consumption, Finland, spring. Euro Surveillance 5;20(40):pii=30033. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2015.20.40.30033

Petruzzelli, A., Amagliani, G., Micci, E., Foglini, M., Di Renzo, E., Brandi, G., Tonucci, F., 2013: Prevalence assessment of Coxiella burnetii and verocytotoxin-producing Escherichia coli in bovine raw milk through molecular identification. *Food control*. Vol. 32, Issue 2. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2013.01.041

Poppe, C., 2011. Pathogens in Milk | Salmonella spp.. Encyclopedia of Dairy Sciences. 93-98. DOI:10.1016/B978-0-12-374407-4.00395-2.

Poulsen, O. M., J. Hau, and J. Kollerup. 1987. Effect of homogenization and pasteurization on the allergenicity of bovine milk analysed by a murine anaphylactic shock model. *Clinical Allergy*. 17:449-458.

Rolls, B. A. and J. W. G. Porter. 1973. Some effects of processing and storage on the nutritive value of milk and milk products. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 32:9-15.

Ryser ET, Marth EH (eds), 2007: *Listeria*, listeriosis and food safety. 3rd ed, CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton

Teitelbaum, J. E. and W. A. Walker. 2002. Nutritional impact of pre- and probiotics as

protective gastrointestinal organisms. Annual Review of Nutrition. 22:107-138.

Schmitz, S., M. W. Pfaffl, M. Miller, J. Buchberger, T. Meyer, H. Sauerwein, and R. M. Bruckmaier. 2004. mRNA expression of immune factors and milk proteins in mammary tissue and milk cells and their concentration in milk during subclinical mastitis. *Milchwissenschaft*. 59:351-355.

Sperber, W. H. 2005. HACCP does not work from Farm to Table. Food Control. 16:511-514.

Shah, SY, Kovacs, C, Tan, CD, Pettersson, G, Shrestha, NK, Lutwick, L & Gordon, SM 2015, 'Delayed diagnosis of Q fever endocarditis in a rheumatoid arthritis patient' IDCases, vol 2, no. 4, pp. 94-96. DOI: 10.1016/j.idcr.2015.09.002

Stephen P. Oliver, Kathryn J. Boor, Steven C. Murphy, Shelton E. Murinda. 2009. Food Safety Hazards Associated with Consumption of Raw Milk. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease* **6**:7, 793-806.

Serraino, Andrea & Florio, Daniela & Giacometti, Federica & Piva, S & Mion, D & Zanoni, Renato Giulio. 2013: Presence of Campylobacter and Arcobacter species in in-line milk filters of farms authorized to produce and sell raw milk and of a water buffalo dairy farm in Italy. Journal of dairy science. 96. . 10.3168/jds.2012-6249.

S. Piepers, P. Zrimšek, P. Passchyn, S. De Vliegher, 2014: Manageable risk factors associated with bacterial and coliform counts in unpasteurized bulk milk in Flemish dairy herds, In Journal of Dairy Science, Volume 97, Issue 6, Pages 3409-3419, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-7203.

Tremonte, Patrizio & Luca, Tipaldi & Succi, Mariantonietta & Pannella, Gianfranco &

Falasca, Luisa & Capilongo, Valeria & Coppola, Raffaele & Sorrentino, Elena. 2014: Raw milk from vending machines: Effects of boiling, microwave treatment, and refrigeration on microbiological quality. Journal of dairy science. 97. . 10.3168/jds.2013-7744.

Verraes, C., Vlaemynck, G., Van Weyenberg, S., De Zutter, L., Daube, G., Sindic, M., Uyttendaele, M., Herman, L., A review of the microbiological hazards of dairy products made from raw milk, *International Dairy Journal* (2015), doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj

Verdi, R. J., D. M. Barbano, M. E. Dellavalle, and G. F. Senyk. 1987. Variability in true protein, casein, nonprotein nitrogen, and proteolysis in high and low somatic cell milks. Journal of Dairy Science. 70:230-242.

Vignaud, M., Brisabois, A., Cherchame, E., Chaing, E., Cadel-Six, S., Hello, S.L., Lailler, R., Marault, M., Michel, V., Silva, N.J., 2017: MLVA for Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica Serovar Dublin: Development of a Method Suitable for Inter-Laboratory Surveillance and Application in the Context of a Raw Milk Cheese Outbreak in France in 2012. *Front. Microbiol.*.

Weihrauch, J. L. 1988. Lipids of milk: Deterioration. p. 215-278. *In* N. P. Wong, R. Jenness, M. Keeney, and E. H. Marth (ed.), Fundamentals of Dairy Chemistry, Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York.

Zeinhom, M. M. A., Abdel-Latef, G. K.: 2014. Public health risk of some milkborne pathogens Beni-Suef University Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences (2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bjbas.2014.10.006.

8. Acknowledgements

I would like to firstly thank Dr. Szili for being so helpful to me in the course of this review, I couldn't have done it without her help.

I would also like to thank my mother, who has been my rock throughout these last 6 years listening to my troubles, supporting me financially, emotionally and giving me a life only spoken in fairy tales and believing in me when no one else would, without whom I would have not made it anywhere close to where I am now, and I couldn't be happier with the decisions that have led me here.

I would like to thank my closest friends Rick and Mike who have stuck by me from the start, picked me up at my darkest hours and showed me nothing but unconditional love, and slapping me back to sense whenever the time needed, to call them my brothers would be an understatement, I love you both.

Thanks to all the family, friends, colleagues, team mates, training partners and coaches that have stuck by me in the last 6 years, you know exactly who you are and I appreciate every single one of you.

And last but not least, the biggest thank you of all goes to my dad, who was nothing short of a miracle worker, who gave me everything I am thankful for today, who has been there through thick and through thin with my mother in the last 6 years, with all the chaos and troubles we had, we pulled through together as a family and I cannot possibly express my gratitude in words. You may not be here with us physically, but I am carrying you with me in my heart, Pops.

HuVetA - SZIA ELECTRONIC LICENSE AGREEMENT AND COPYRIGHT DECLARATION*

Name: Pau	1 Borg
Contact informa	ition (e-mail): Paulvb3@gmail-Con
Title of documer	ntion (e-mail): fax vb3@gmail-con nt (to be uploaded): food safety (154) at (an)
Publication data	of document:
Number of files	submitted:

By accepting the present agreement the author or copyright owner grants non-exclusive license to HuVetA and SZIA over the above mentioned document (including its abstract) to be converted to copy protected PDF format without changing its content, in order to archive, reproduce, and make accessible under the conditions specified below.

The author agrees that HuVetA and SZIA may store more than one copy (accessible only to HuVetA and SZIA administrators) of the licensed document exclusively for purposes of secure storage and backup, if necessary.

You state that the submission is your original work, and that you have the right to grant the rights contained in this license. You also state that your submission does not, to the best of your knowledge, infringe upon anyone's copyright. If the document has parts which you are not the copyright owner of, you have to indicate that you have obtained unrestricted permission from the copyright owner to grant the rights required by this Agreement, and that any such third-party owned material is clearly identified and acknowledged within the text of the licensed document.

The copyright owner defines the scope of access to the document stored in HuVetA/SZIA as follows (mark the appropriate box with an X):

M	I grant unlimited online access,
X	I grant access only through the intranet (IP range) of the Szent István University,
	I grant access only on one dedicated computer at the Veterinary Science Library,
X	I grant unlimited online access only to the bibliographic data and abstract of the document

^{*} The present declaration is based on Ordinance no. 5/2011 of the Rector concerning the scholarly database of institution (i.e. Szent Istvan University) affiliated publications.

Please, define the in-house accessibility of the document by marking the below box with an X:	;
I grant in-house access (namely, reading the hard copy version of the document) at the Library.	the

If the preparation of the document to be uploaded was supported or sponsored by a firm or an organization, you also declare that you are entitled to sign the present Agreement concerning the document.

The operators of HuVetA/SZIA do not assume any legal liability or responsibility towards the author/copyright holder/organizations in case somebody uses the material legally uploaded to HuVetA/SZIA in a way that is unlawful.

D-4	D. J	3	month	
Date:	BUILDINGST	Cav	month	Vear

Author/copyright owner signature

HuVetA Magyar Állatorvos-tudományi Archívum – Hungarian Veterinary Archive is an online weterinary repository operated by the Veterinary Science Library, Archives and Museum. It is an electronic knowledge base which aims to collect, organize, store documents regarding Hungarian weterinary science and history, and make them searchable and accessible in line with current legal requirements and regulations.

HuWetA relies on the latest technology in order to provide easy searchability (by search engines, as well) and access to the full text document, whenever possible.

Based on the above, HuVetA aims to:

- increase awareness of Hungarian veterinary science not only in Hungary, but also internationally;
- increase citation numbers of publications authored by Hungarian veterinarians, thus improve the impact factor of Hungarian veterinary journals;
- present the knowledge base of the Faculty of Veterinary Science, Szent Istvån
 University and its partners in a focussed way in order to improve the prestige of the
 Hungarian veterinary profession, and the competitiveness of the organizations in
 question;
- facilitate professional relations and collaboration;
- support open access.

SZIA Szent István Archive is the online repository of scholarly publications affiliated with the Szent István University.